8

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
DeAndrea Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUL 07 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2016-001019

U.S. Bank, National
Association, as trustee for the
Holders of the Banc of
America Funding Corporation,
2008-FTI,

Respondent,

v.

Rhonda Lewis Meisner a/k/a
Rhonda L. Meisner, Bank of
America, N.A. and SCBT

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

July 7, 2017

Rhonda Lewis Meisner, Appellant
Post Office Box 689
Blythewood, South Carolina 29016
Pegasus333@icloud.com
(803) 206-3402

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THE PLAINTIFF WAS THE REAL PARTY IN INTEREST THAT POSSESSED THE REQUISITE STANDING TO PURSUE THE FORECLOSURE ACTION.
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THE COUNTER CLAIMS WERE PERMISSIVE.
- III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THE APPELLANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO A JURY TRIAL.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DETERMINED THE PLAINTIFF WAS THE REAL PARTY IN INTEREST TO PURSUE FORECLOSURE.
- II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THE COUNTER CLAIMS WERE PERMISSIVE.
- III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO A JURY TRIAL.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate courts review a motion to dismiss de- novo. This Court also makes legal findings with no deference to the court below. Whether a party is entitled to a jury trial is a question of law, which the appellate Courts review de-novo. Wachovia Bank, Nat. Ass'n v. Blackburn, 407 S.C. 321, 328, 755 S.E.2d 437, 441 (2014). Here, the question of whether the cross and counter claims for breach of

contract, breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act and the abuse of process counter claims are compulsory; is a question of law. When an order deprives a party of a mode of trial to which that party is entitled as a matter of right, the order is immediately appealable and failure to do so forever bars appellate review. Flagstar Corp. v. Royal Surplus Lines, 341 S.C. 68, 533 S.E.2d 331 (2000). The appellate Court is not bound by the trial court's legal conclusions. I'On, LLC v. Town of Mount Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 411 526 S.E. 2d 718, 718-719 (2000); S.C. Const. art V, § 5 (providing the state's appellate courts have jurisdiction to correct trial court's erroneous legal findings in law and equity cases); S.C. Code Ann. §§ 14-3-320 & 14-8-200 (1976 & Supp. 2001) (providing this state's appellate courts have jurisdiction to correct trial court's erroneous findings of law in equity cases).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

U.S. Bank "US Bank" initiated a foreclosure action (first mortgage) on March 31, 2014 against the appellant, Rhonda Meisner "Meisner" and attached an assignment of the note and mortgage from Bank of America, N.A. "Bank of America" to US Bank, that was dated April 2, 2014. The assignment was notarized on April 3, 2014, by a notary, in a different state. (2014-CP-40-02063) **(R. p. 20.) (R. p. 170:23-25;171-172:1-15)**. Bank of America and SCBT (SCBT) were also named defendants.

Previously, SCBT, (second mortgage) a junior lien holder, (in the same property), filed a foreclosure action and named both Bank of America and Meisner as defendants. In the earlier case (2013-CP-40-07144), Bank of America answered the suit and claimed ownership of the same note and mortgage (first mortgage) that U.S. Bank now claims. **(R. p. 165:10-15) (R.p.88-91:17) (R. p. 184 EXHIBITS 1-4).** Bank of America also claimed ownership of a different note and mortgage that had been paid off years earlier, (HELOC) **(R. p. 91:18) (R.p.184 EXHIBITS, 3,4).**

The appellant filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to S.C.R.P. Rule 12(b)(7) and 12(b)(8) based on Bank of America and U.S. Bank's claimed ownership in the same note and mortgage in the previously filed suit by SCBT and requested that U.S. Bank's foreclosure action be dismissed and the cases consolidated for adjudication. **(R.p.187, 88) (R. p. 164:17-21.)**

A hearing was held on the motion on June 10, 2014; however, prior to the hearing, SCBT voluntarily dismissed Bank of America as a defendant and changed SCBT's cause of action to a suit on a note, which SCBT also subsequently dropped and dismissed. (R.p.192 During the June 10, 2014 hearing, appellant Meisner argued the case should be dismissed based on the defective assignment of the note and mortgage which occurred after the lawsuit was filed. **(R. p. 20) (R. p. 171:5-11,17-25;172:1-15).** The Court denied all motions. **(R. p. 8, 12)** Meisner filed a motion to alter and amend and requested a ruling on the alternative oral motions to dismiss

based on the fact the plaintiff/respondent presented inadequate evidence that it owned the note and mortgage at the time U.S. Bank filed the lawsuit **(R. p.171:14-26; 172:1-15)**. Additionally, because U.S. Bank claimed the default occurred prior to the assignment of the note and mortgage based on the date of the filings, U.S. Bank would be considered a third- party creditor because they purchased and assumed the note and mortgage after U.S. Bank said Meisner defaulted. **(R.p.16 ¶ 15) (R. p. 176:10-18.)**

The appellant, Rhonda Meisner, filed a motion to dismiss based on lack of standing because the lawsuit was filed on March 31, 2014 and U.S. Bank attached an assignment dated April 2, 2014 and notarized April 3, 2014. **(R. 171:20-24)** Meisner claimed U.S. Bank was not the real party in interest based on Bank of America's reported claim to the note and mortgage that U.S. Bank was seeking to foreclose. **(R. p. 16 ¶15.)** The challenge to real party in interest and standing was subsequently determined by this Court as interlocutory, so the appeal was dismissed. **(R. p. 1.)**

Subsequently, the plaintiff U.S. Bank submitted an Order of referral for the foreclosure action to the Clerk of Court for signature and execution. **(R.pp.206-210)** The Order created by the U.S. Bank, and presented to the Clerk of Court for execution, included findings of fact and conclusions of law. **(R. pp. 6-8.)** The South Carolina rules of civil procedure do not provide a mechanism for the clerk of court

to make findings of fact and conclusions of law. (**R. pp. 213-214.**) Whether U.S. Bank's attempt to fast track the foreclosure and circumvent the S.C. Rules of Civil Procedure is an abuse of process and a malicious prosecution is a question for the jury.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court erred in holding that U.S. Bank was the real party in interest that possessed the requisite standing to foreclose on the note and mortgage.

The assignment of the mortgage from Bank of America to U.S. Bank is a defective instrument and was executed after the lawsuit was filed. Therefore, the Court should have found, the respondent was not the real party in interest because the note and mortgage were not properly assigned by Bank of America into U.S. Bank before U.S. Bank filed this lawsuit. (**R.p.187, 88**) (**R. p. 164:17-21.**) (**R. 184 EXHIBITIS 1-4**). South Carolina law requires a lawsuit to be brought in the name of the real party in interest. The defendant has the obligation to object early in the litigation, or risk waiver of the objection to the real party in interest if the objection is not raised early. WeSavFinancial Corp. v. Lingefelt, 316 S.C. 442, 450 S.E.2d 580 (1994).

Standing must be determined prior to the Court having a justiciable controversy. As the Supreme Court ruled in Lennon, "[A] threshold inquiry for any court is a determination of justiciability, i.e. whether the litigation presents an active

case or controversy. ‘No justiciable controversy is presented unless the plaintiff has standing to maintain the action.’” Lennon v. South Carolina Coastal Council, 330 S.C. 414, 415, 498 S.E. 2d 906, 906 (Ct. App. 1998) The Supreme Court of the United States ruled that the only party that has standing to sue in a mortgage foreclosure action is the holder of both the note and the mortgage. Carpenter v Longen, 83 U. S. 16 Wall. 271 (1872). As the Supreme Court in Carpenter noted, “[T]his case is a different one from what it would be if the mortgage stood alone, or the note was non- negotiable or had been assigned after maturity”. Id. at note 2. “[T]he note and mortgage are inseparable; the former as essential, the latter as an incident. An assignment of the note carries the mortgage with it, while an assignment of the latter alone is a nullity.” Id. at note 3. Here, the note and mortgage were assigned after the alleged default making the owner of the note and mortgage a third-party debt collector. This assignment occurred after the initiation of the foreclosure action, so at the time the action was filed, there is no evidence U.S. Bank had standing (ownership of the note and mortgage) to pursue the foreclosure action. **(R.p.187, 88) (R. p. 164:17-21.) (R. p.164 EXHIBITS 1-4)**

The Parties representations to the Court suggest the “real party in interest” is Bank of America, N.A., as the assignment of the note and mortgage occurred, *after the breach in contract and after the lawsuit* was filed in the Court. (emphasis by appellant). Therefore, U.S. Bank is a third- party creditor because they received the

assignment after the loan was in default status. This is due to the fact a real party in interest is for the benefit of the defendant. The requirement to object early avoids multiple suits by multiple plaintiffs by requiring the defendant to speak early in the litigation, if the plaintiff has not been properly identified. Here, both Bank of America and U.S. Bank have claimed ownership of the same note and the same mortgage (albeit in different lawsuits). The banks representations, created a genuine issue as to the proper plaintiff, the real party in interest, and whether the plaintiff/respondent, U.S. Bank had standing to initiate the foreclosure action. **(R. p. 20.) (R. p. 170:23-25;171-172:1-15.) (R.p.16 ¶ 15.) (R. p.164 EXHIBITS 1-4.)**

The Court should have dismissed the lawsuit without prejudice based on the defective assignment and/or require the respondent/plaintiff to provide proof that U.S. Bank was the proper plaintiff, as the determination of the real party in interest affects the answer to the lawsuit and indeed the course of the lawsuit. **(R.p.16 ¶ 15) (R. p. 170:23-25;171-172:1-15.)**. In this case, it is the co-defendant and/or the plaintiff that the appellant alleges is the “breacher” of the contract. The determination of which entity owned the note and mortgage at the time of the alleged breach is central to the counter-claims and cross-claims in this lawsuit as appellant Meisner alleges as do the appellees that Bank of America owned the note and mortgage at the time of the breach. **(R. p. 20.) (R. p. 170:23-25;171-172:1-15.) (R.p.16 ¶ 15.)**

Therefore, the Court should have found the assignment of the note and mortgage was not properly executed and did not transfer ownership of the note and the mortgage from Bank of America to the respondent/plaintiff U.S. Bank. **(R. p. 20.) (R. p. 170:23-25;171-172:1-15.) (R.p.16 ¶ 15.)** In addition to the assignment and notarization being defective, it was executed and notarized after the foreclosure action was filed. **(R.p.15.)**

Bank of America represented to the Circuit Court, in an earlier foreclosure action, that Bank of America possessed an ownership interest in the very same note and mortgage. **(R p.16¶ 15.) (R. p. 170:23-25;171-172:1-15.)** The representation of Bank of America to the Court creates a material controversy regarding the real party in interest and the ownership of the note and mortgage as both U.S. Bank and Bank of America, the predecessor in title, claim ownership. **(R. p. 170:23-25;171-172:1-15.)** The representation of the plaintiff is that the note and mortgage were assigned, after Bank of America breached the contract, which made Bank of America, N.A. the real party in interest instead of U.S. Bank. **(R. p. 179:2-8).**

Bank of America and appellant Meisner executed the note and the mortgage in 2003 **(R. p. 91¶ 17.) (R. p. 164 EXHIBITS 3,4).** The executed note agreement, contained a clause that Bank of America would automatically draft payments for the mortgage. This automatic drafting via agreement, would continue until appellant Meisner requested in writing, to cease the debits. Appellant Meisner never requested

cessation of the debits. (R.113:11-25; 114-117; 120:17-25; 121:1-3) (R. p. 184: EXHIBITS 3,4) As such, any transfer of the instrument, (the note and mortgage previously owned by Bank of America) would include the terms of the instrument including the requirement to draft the payments from appellant Meisner's bank account as usual. (R. p. 120:17-25; 121:1-3.) (R. p. 184: EXHIBITS 3,4)

U.S. Bank alleged in its complaint and asserted that it is the successor in interest to Bank of America; however, the evidence (the assignment) to support the assertions may not be legally sufficient to support the assertions. FW/PBS, Inc. v. City of Dallas, 493 U.S. 215, 231, (1990) holding modified by City of Littleton, Colo. v. Z.J. Gifts D-4, L.L.C., 541 U.S. 774 (2004) ("It is a long-settled principle that standing cannot be inferred argumentatively from averments in the pleadings, but rather must affirmatively appear in the record.") (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). Ctr. for Legal Reform v. Rakowsky, C/A No. 3:14-cv-01674-JFA (D.S.C. Nov. 14, 2014). Here, the assignment of the note and mortgage purported to occur on April 2, 2014 and notarized a day later while the alleged breach of contract occurred purportedly in 2013. Therefore, there is no injury to U.S. Bank as it purchased or was assigned a "breached contract" and as such is a third-party creditor, that is not entitled to foreclosure because its predecessor in interest, Bank of America, was the breaching party.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THE COUNTER CLAIMS WERE PERMISSIVE.

A. The breach of Contract Claims against Bank of America and U.S. Bank are compulsory because Bank of America's breach is specifically related to enforcement of the note and the ability to foreclose.

“Whether a party is entitled to a jury trial is a question of law”. Verenes v. Alvanos, 387 S.C. 11, 15 690 S.E. 2d 771, 772 (2010). On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mount Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 411, 526 S.E.2d 716, 718-19 (2000); see also S.C. Const. art. V, § 5 (providing this state's appellate courts have jurisdiction to correct trial court's erroneous legal findings in law and equity cases) The Court should have found the breach of contract cross claims and abuse of process claims against U.S. Bank, were legal and compulsory because the contract breach is the basis for U.S. Bank's purported right to foreclose. Bank of America claimed an interest in the note and mortgage and U.S. Bank's foreclosure filing suggested the breach of contract occurred prior to receiving the assignment from Bank of America. (R. p. 20) (R. p. 171:5-11,17-25;172:1-15) (R. p. 113:11-25; 114-117; 120:17-25;121:1-3). It is axiomatic that a breaching party cannot seek restitution for his own breach.

The assignee of a contract receives the complete terms of the contract in the assignment. An assignment is the act of transferring to another all or part of one's property, interest, or rights. Black's Law Dictionary 119 (6th ed. 1992). It includes

transfers of all kinds of property, including negotiable (and non-negotiable) instruments. Id. The assignment of an account involves the transfer to the assignee the right to have money, when collected, applied to the payment of his debt. Id. The interest in the property assigned can be present, future, or contingent; it may represent contract rights to money, property, or performance, or rights to causes of action. 5 S.C. Jur. Assignments § 2 (2006). There are three elements that constitute an assignment: (1) an assignor; (2) an assignee; and (3) transfer of control of the thing assigned from the assignor to the assignee. Donahue v. Multimedia, Inc., 362 S.C. 331, 338, 608 S.E.2d 162, 165 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing Leon v. Martinez, 638 N.E.2d 511 (N.Y. 1994)). “An assignment of a right is a manifestation of the assignor’s intention to transfer it by which the assignor’s right to performance by the obligor is extinguished in whole or in part and the assignee acquires a right to such performance.” Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 317(1) (1981). An assignee stands in the shoes of its assignor. Twelfth RMA Partners, L.P. v. Nat’l Safe Corp., 335 S.C. 635, 639-40, 518 S.E.2d 44, 46 (Ct. App. 1999) (“[T]he assignee should have all the same rights and privileges, including the right to sue . . . as the assignor.”).

Bank of America, the original creditor, as part of the terms in the contract of the note, placed an automatic payment draft provision into the note contract. (**R. p. 120:17-25; 121:1-3; 123:9-26; 124:1-19.**) U.S. Bank represented that it owned the

note and the mortgage via assignment unto it by Bank of America. Therefore, the terms of the note and the mortgage were adopted and gained by U.S. Bank which included the requirement to draft payments from Meisner's account. If this Court determines that U.S. Bank received the contract via assignment before the breach, then U.S. Bank was obligated to draft the mortgage payments, which was an unambiguous term that was elected at the time of execution of the contract and Meisner never rescinded the draft authorization. However, if the Court determines U.S. Bank received the assignment after the breach then U.S. Bank is a third-party debt collector. During the June 10, 2014 hearing the plaintiff admitted that it gained all of the rights under the note via the assignment **(R. p. 117:5-8)**

Appellant Meisner contends she did not default on the loan as she did not request the automatic payments to cease being drafted and Bank of America or U.S. Bank was obligated to continue debiting the account based on the terms of the contract. The provision of the contract required that once elected by the borrower, Bank of America (or any entity with the rights to the contract) would continue to draft payments from Meisner's account to pay the monthly mortgage payments pursuant to the contract unless the notified in writing Meisner to cease the automatic debits and payments. **(R.p.105:10-17.)** Bank of America breached the contract by ceasing automatic debits and payments without receiving a request in writing.

Therefore, as the breacher of the contract neither Bank of America nor U.S. Bank should be allowed to foreclose.

B. The trial court erred in determining the abuse of process counterclaims claims were permissive.

A foreclosure lawsuit is the mechanism or process by which the owner of a note and mortgage holder enforces a note and mortgage contract. The plaintiff must be owed money to pursue the foreclosure. South Carolina is a judicial foreclosure state; therefore, the South Carolina rules of civil procedure for foreclosure must be followed. A manipulation or violation of the South Carolina rules of civil procedure or a manipulation of the foreclosure statutes results in an abuse of process. Abuse of process has been described as “the employment of legal process for some purpose other than that [for] which it was intended by the law to effect-the improper use of a regularly issued process. Huggins v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc., 249 S.C. 206, 210, 153 S.E.2d 693, 695 (1967) (quoting 34 Am. Jur. Malicious Prosecution § 3, at 704) The elements of abuse of process are “an ulterior purpose and a willful act in the use of the process not proper in the regular course of the proceedings.” Hainer v. American Med. Int'l, Inc., 328 S.C. 128, 136-37, 492 S.E.2d 103, 107 (1997). In Heintz v. Jenkins, 514 U.S. 291 (1995), the United States Supreme Court held that litigation conduct of attorneys in collecting consumer debts is not exempt from the Fair Debt Collections Protection Act, rejecting arguments of the collection bar to the

contrary. The legal question of whether the breach occurred before assignment and therefore, U.S. Bank is a third- party debt collector would impose liability for the actions during litigation. However, even without this determination, South Carolina law provides relief for the tort of abuse of process.

South Carolina law allows for the Clerk of Court to refer an *uncontested* foreclosure complaint to the Master in Equity pursuant to SCRCRCP Rule 53. However, a plain reading of the complete statute makes clear that a referral to the Master in Equity by the Clerk of Court is only appropriate in an uncontested foreclosure or a default case and specifically provides the case be returned to the circuit court when any party requests a jury trial. S.C.R.C.P. Rule 53 provides in part:

(b) References. In an action where the parties consent, in a default case, or an action for foreclosure, some or all the causes of action in a case may be referred to a master or special referee by order of a circuit judge or the clerk of court. In all other actions, the circuit court may, upon application of any party or upon its own motion, direct a reference of some or all of the causes of action in a case. *Any party may request a jury pursuant to Rule 38 on any or all issues triable of right by a jury and, upon the filing of a jury demand, the matter shall be returned to the circuit court.* A case shall not be referred to a master or special referee for making a report to the circuit court. The clerk shall promptly provide the master or special referee with a copy of the order of reference. *(emphasis added by appellant).*

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