THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable DeAndrea Gist Benjamin, District Court Judge

---

Case No. 2014-CP-40-02063

Appellate Case No. 2016-001019

---

U.S. Bank, National Association, as trustee for the Holders of The Banc of America Funding Corporation, 2008-FT1 Trust, Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2008-FT1,  
.....Respondent,

v.

Rhonda Lewis Meisner a/k/a Rhonda L. Meisner; Bank of America, N.A.; and  
SCBT,.....Defendants,

Of whom Rhonda Lewis Meisner is the.....Appellant.

---

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

**RECEIVED**

SEP 20 2017

Magalie Arcure Creech  
PO Box 41489

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

### ARGUMENT

#### I. THE ISSUE OF WHETHER THE FORECLOSURE ACTION SHOULD BE DISMISSED DUE TO U.S. BANK’S ALLEGED LACK OF STANDING WAS NOT PRESERVED FOR REVIEW.

In her first argument, Meisner contends that the Trial Court erred in holding that U.S. Bank was the real party in interest with standing to foreclose the Note and Mortgage. Meisner, however, has failed to preserve this issue for appellate review as Meisner failed to obtain a ruling from the Trial Court on the issue of U.S. Bank’s standing in either the Order Denying Motion to Dismiss or the Second Order of Reference.

In support of her argument that U.S. Banked lacked standing, Meisner cites the transcript of the June 10, 2014 hearing in her Motion to Dismiss and contends that the Trial Court should have dismissed the Foreclosure Action based on an allegedly defective

assignment of the Note and Mortgage. (Appellant's In. Br. pp. 5–9.) In her Motion to Dismiss and supporting Memorandum, Meisner argued that the Foreclosure Action should be dismissed because, she alleged, U.S. Bank failed to timely respond to a complaint filed by SCBT in the SCBT Foreclosure—a separate foreclosure action against Meisner based on a separate promissory note. (R. pp. 187-193.) U.S. Bank argued that SCBT's foreclosure of its junior lien had no effect on the validity of U.S. Bank's senior lien in this Foreclosure Action. (June 10, 2014 T. pp. 7:9–8:13.) Consequently, U.S. Bank argued its failure to timely respond to the complaint in the SCBT Foreclosure could not serve as a basis for the dismissal of the Foreclosure Action under Rule 12(b)(8), SCRCP. (*Id.*)

Meisner attempted to challenge U.S. Bank's standing to maintain the Foreclosure Action based on her allegation that the Assignment of Mortgage was defective. (June 10, 2014 T. pp. 8:21–9:11.) The Trial Court, however, informed Meisner that it could not hear her argument regarding the Assignment of Mortgage as Meisner had not filed a motion on the issue with the Court. Although Meisner stated that she had filed a motion challenging U.S. Bank's standing (June 10, 2014 T. p. 9:7–8), the Record shows no such motion was filed. Additionally, in her subsequent Rule 59(e) motion (discussed below), Meisner conceded that she made an oral motion challenging U.S. Bank's standing at the June 10th hearing.

On June 27, 2014, the Court entered its Order Denying Meisner's Motion to Dismiss. In the Order, the Trial Court noted that, although Meisner cited Rule 12(b)(8) and (9), SCRCP, as grounds for her Motion to Dismiss, Rule 12(b)(9) did not exist; therefore, the Court only addressed Meisner's Motion pursuant Rule 12(b)(8). The Court

denied the Motion to Dismiss because it concluded Meisner's default under the Note and Mortgage was "entirely unrelated to her performance under the terms of [her] loan agreement with SCBT[.]" (R. pp. 8-11.)

In her Motion for Reconsideration, Meisner asked the Trial Court to amend the Order Denying Motion to Dismiss and for relief from the Order stating that the court had not ruled on her oral motion challenging U.S. Bank's standing. (R. pp. 197-205.) The Trial Court, however, denied the Motion for Reconsideration for Meisner's failure to provide the court with a copy as required by Rule 59(g), SCRPC. *See* SCRPC 59(g) ("A party filing a written motion under this rule shall provide a copy of the motion to the judge within ten (10) days after the filing of the motion."). Meisner makes no argument on appeal that the Trial Court erred in denying her Motion to Dismiss for her failure to comply with Rule 59(g), SCRPC. (Appellant's In. Br. pp. 5-9.)

Similarly, in the Second Order of Reference, the Trial Court did not address the issue of U.S. Bank's standing. In her subsequent Motion to Amend, Meisner noted the absence of a ruling on the issue in the Second Order of Reference and requested that the Trial Court amend the Order. (R. pp. 247-250.) Meisner, however, filed her Notice of Appeal without obtaining a ruling on her Motion to Amend.

Because the Trial Court did not rule on the issue of U.S. Bank's standing in its Order Denying Motion to Dismiss or its Second Order of Reference, and because Meisner failed to obtain a ruling on the issue with either her Motion for Reconsideration or her Motion to Amend, she failed to preserve the issue for review. *See Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 23, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779-80 (2004) ("Issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower

court.”); *Noisette v. Ismail*, 304 S.C. 56, 58, 403 S.E.2d 122, 124 (1991) (holding that although an issue was argued before the trial court, because the trial court did not explicitly rule on the issue, and the appellant did not make a Rule 59(e) motion to amend to obtain a ruling, the issue was not preserved for appellate review); *Cowburn v. Leventis*, 366 S.C. 20, 41, 619 S.E.2d 437, 449 (Ct. App. 2005) (“When a trial court makes a general ruling on an issue, but does not address the specific argument raised by a party, that party must make a Rule 59(e) motion asking the trial court to rule on the issue in order to preserve it for appeal.”).

## **II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN STRIKING MEISNER’S REQUEST FOR A JURY TRIAL.**

The Trial Court did not err by referring the Foreclosure Action to the Master-in-Equity in its Second Order of Reference. In her counterclaims for breach of contract and declaratory judgment, Meisner seeks *equitable* relief for which she has no right to a trial by jury. Additionally, Meisner has waived any right to a jury trial on her remaining counterclaims and her cross-claims as they are *permissive* claims raised in an equitable foreclosure proceeding. Specifically, Meisner’s abuse of process claim is based on activities alleged to have occurred *during* the course of the Foreclosure Action and, therefore, is unrelated to the enforceability of the Note and Mortgage. Similarly, Meisner’s cross-claim against Bank of America for failure to file a satisfaction of mortgage is a permissive claim as it is unrelated to the enforceability of the Note and Mortgage by U.S. Bank.

In *Blackburn*, the Supreme Court of South Carolina explained that “[a] mortgage foreclosure is an action in equity.” 407 S.C. at 328, 755 S.E.2d at 440. Thus, “the parties are not entitled, as a matter of right, to a trial by jury.” *Id.* at 328, 755 S.E.2d at 441

(quoting *Williford v. Downs*, 265 S.C. 319, 321, 218 S.E.2d 242, 243 (1975)). But, “counterclaims—including those raised in equitable actions—may, at times, be entitled to a jury trial.” *Id.* The determination of whether a party raising a counterclaim in a foreclosure action is entitled to a jury trial on its counterclaim depends first on whether the counterclaim is an *equitable* counterclaim or a *legal* counterclaim. *See id.* at 328–29, 755 S.E.2d at 441.

If the claim is a legal counterclaim, the party asserting the claim is entitled to a trial by jury on that claim *only* if the claim is a compulsory counterclaim—a claim that “arises out of the same transaction or occurrence as the opposing party’s claim” and which the party would have lost the right to make had the claim not been asserted in the same action. *Id.* at 330, 755 S.E.2d at 441 (citation and quotation marks omitted). Furthermore, a compulsory counterclaim “affect[s] the bank’s right to enforce the note and foreclose the mortgage.” *See id.* at 330 n.7, 755 S.E.2d at 442 n.7. Alternatively, if the counterclaim is a legal but *permissive* counterclaim, asserting the claim in an equitable action constitutes a waiver of the right to a trial by jury. *Id.* at 330, 755 S.E.2d at 441. For *equitable* counterclaims, however, a party has no right to a jury trial. *Id.* at 329, 755 S.E.2d at 441.

Furthermore, “[w]hether the action is one at law or in equity is determined by the nature of the pleadings and the character of the relief sought.” *RIM Associates v. Blackwell*, 359 S.C. 170, 177–78, 597 S.E.2d 152, 156 (Ct. App. 2004); *Clark v. Hargrave*, 323 S.C. 84, 86, 473 S.E.2d 474, 476 (Ct. App. 1996) (same). Thus, “an action sounding in law may be transformed to one in equity because equitable relief is sought.” *Ins. Fin. Servs., Inc. v. S. Carolina Ins. Co.*, 271 S.C. 289, 294, 247 S.E.2d 315,

318 (1978). Accordingly, “an appellate court is not bound by a party’s characterization of the actions” and may disregard such labels. *RIM Associates v. Blackwell*, 359 S.C. 170, 177–78, 597 S.E.2d 152, 156 (Ct. App. 2004); *Ariail v. Ariail*, 295 S.C. 486, 491, 369 S.E.2d 146, 149 (Ct. App. 1988) (disregarding the label given by the parties to a cause of action and analyzing the claim based on the relief sought). Additionally, even though a counterclaim may be compulsory as it arose out of the “same transaction or occurrence as the opposing party’s claim,” *Blackburn*, 407 S.C. at 330, 755 S.E.2d at 441, where the main purpose of the counterclaim is equitable relief, the counterclaim is properly regarded as sounding in equity, *see Mortgage Elec. Sys., Inc. v. White*, 384 S.C. 606, 615, 682 S.E.2d 498, 502 (Ct. App. 2009) (holding no right to jury trial of a *compulsory* counterclaim where the relief sought was *equitable*).

**A. Meisner Has No Right to a Jury Trial for Her Counterclaims for Declaratory Judgment or Breach of Contract Because She Seeks Equitable Relief.**

Meisner has characterized her counterclaims for declaratory judgment and breach of contract as legal and compulsory counterclaims for which she claims a right to trial by jury. Because the counterclaims do not affect U.S. Bank’s right to enforce the Note and foreclose the Mortgage, the Trial Court properly found the counterclaims to be *permissive*. Alternatively,<sup>3</sup> because, the nature of the relief Meisner seeks is primarily equitable in nature—that U.S. Bank be estopped from foreclosing the Mortgage—her counterclaims are equitable claims for which she has no right to a trial by jury. Accordingly, the Second Order of Reference should be affirmed.

---

<sup>3</sup> While the Trial Court concluded these counterclaims were permissive counterclaims (R. p. 4), this Court may affirm on any basis appearing in the record. *See White*, 384 S.C. at 614 n.2, 682 S.E.2d at 502 n.2

In support of these counterclaims, Meisner alleges that Bank of America failed to draft her monthly payments and apply them to her account. (R. p. 40; Amend. Answer ¶ 34.) Assuming *arguendo* that Bank of America did cease Meisner's monthly draft payments, that fact does not affect U.S. Bank's right to enforce the Note and foreclose the Mortgage, rendering her counterclaims to be permissible. *See Blackburn*, 407 S.C. at 330 n.7, 755 S.E.2d at 442 n.7. Having raised permissible counterclaims in an equitable foreclosure action, Meisner has waived her right to a jury trial. *See id.* at 330, 755 S.E.2d at 441.

Alternatively, the Second Order of Reference may be affirmed as the relief which Meisner seeks is equitable relief, for which she has no right to a trial by jury. *See id.* at 329, 755 S.E.2d at 441. As Meisner notes, "a suit for declaratory judgment is neither legal nor equitable, but is determined by the nature of the underlying issue." *Felts v. Richland Cty.*, 303 S.C. 354, 356, 400 S.E.2d 781, 782 (1991). (Appellant's In. Br. p. 19.) While the declaratory judgment action in *Felts* was characterized as an action in law, the action sought the interpretation of a contract solely to determine if the plaintiff was defined as an employee under the contract at issue. *See id.* When, however, a party files a declaratory judgment action primarily seeking equitable relief the claim is properly considered to sound in equity. *See Lowcountry Open Land Trust v. Charleston S. Univ.*, 376 S.C. 399, 406 n.4, 656 S.E.2d 775, 779 n.4 (Ct. App. 2008) (holding that declaratory judgment action sounded in equity where the primary relief sought was the equitable relief of specific performance, rejecting the argument that the necessity of interpreting the contract meant the action was an action at law); *Gaddy v. Douglass*, 359 S.C. 329, 333, 597 S.E.2d 12, 14 (Ct. App. 2004) (concluding that a declaratory judgment action seeking

to revoke a power of attorney sounded in equity). Similarly, a claim for breach of contract may sound in equity when equitable relief is sought. *See RIM Associates*, 359 S.C. at 177–78, 597 S.E.2d at 156 (concluding that, despite the party’s characterization of its claim as a claim for “breach of contract,” when the party sought the equitable remedy of specific performance, the claim was an equitable claim). Here, although Meisner asserts that her counterclaims for declaratory judgment and breach of contract are legal counterclaims, it is apparent from the pleadings and her arguments on appeal that the primary relief she seeks is *equitable*, precluding her right to a jury trial.

In support of her breach of contract counterclaim, Meisner alleges that BANA breached the terms of the Note before assigning it to U.S. Bank. (Appellant’s In. Br. p. 12.) As a result, she contends “neither Bank of America nor U.S. Bank should be allowed to foreclose.” (*Id.*) As for her counterclaim for declaratory judgment, she contends, “[t]he requested declaratory judgment action is to determine the rights and responsibilities of each of the parties under the [N]ote and [M]ortgage. The action argued the Bank should be *estopped* from foreclosure . . . .” (Appellant’s In. Br. p. 19 (emphasis added).) Thus, for both counterclaims, Meisner seeks the *equitable* remedy of estoppel, for which she has no right to a trial by jury. *See Black v. Lexington Sch. Dist. No. 2*, 327 S.C. 55, 62 n.1, 488 S.E.2d 327, 331 n.1 (1997) (“[E]quitable estoppel is an equitable issue to be determined by the judge rather than by the jury.”).

Meisner also erroneously contends that the determination of the rights and obligation of the parties under the Note and Mortgage—the determination of the “real party in interest” with standing—is a “legal conclusion which provides the basis for a jury trial.” (Appellant’s In. Br. p. 21.) But, the determination of a question of law as to

whether a party has standing to sue under a contract does not transform an action in equity into an action in law. *See Sloan v. Greenville Cty.*, 356 S.C. 531, 545, 590 S.E.2d 338, 345–46 (Ct. App. 2003) (concluding that while the defendant asserted the main purpose of the declaratory judgment action was to *construe a written contract*—including whether the plaintiff had standing to sue under the contract—when the remedy sought by the plaintiff was equitable, the action was appropriately characterized as equitable). That the finder of fact will have to determine standing in an equitable action does not, therefore, provide Meisner the right to a jury trial. *See id.*

This rule that an otherwise legal claim may be equitable in nature depending on the primary relief sought applies even if a party to an action seeks monetary damages in addition to equitable relief. *See Mobley Co. v. McLucas*, 99 S.C. 99, 99, 82 S.E. 986, 986 (1914) (holding that the defendant in a foreclosure action was *not* entitled to a jury trial on his counterclaim for damages arising out of the plaintiff's alleged failure to perform its obligations in the contract); *Ins. Fin. Servs., Inc.*, 271 S.C. at 294, 247 S.E.2d at 318 (affirming the circuit court's transfer of the action to the equity calendar despite a party's request for "considerable damages," both actual and punitive, because the damages were "only incidental" to the equitable relief sought); *Doe v. S.C. Med. Malpractice Liab. Joint Underwriting Ass'n*, 347 S.C. 642, 645, 557 S.E.2d 670, 672 (2001) (concluding that where the plaintiff's "main purpose" of the action was equitable relief the action sounded in equity despite the plaintiff's prayer for money damages). Thus, when the primary remedy sought is equitable, the action will be an action in equity: "While [one party] will have to pay money . . . if the allegations are proven, that does not mean [the opposing party's] causes of action are legal in nature. Upon looking at the body of the complaint,

the main purpose in bringing this action is equitable, not legal.” *Verenes v. Alvanos*, 387 S.C. 11, 18, 690 S.E.2d 771, 774 (2010) (holding that, when the nature of relief sought pursuant to claim for breach of fiduciary duty was an equitable remedy, there was no right to trial by jury).

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